
 10/16/2025  

 

559 

 

A regular meeting of the Keene City Council was held on Thursday, October 16, 2025. The 
Honorable Mayor Jay V. Kahn called the meeting to order at 7:01 PM. Roll called: Laura E. 

Tobin (arrived at 7:14 PM), Michael J. Remy, Randy L. Filiault, Robert C. Williams, Edward J. 
Haas, Philip M. Jones, Andrew M. Madison (departed at 8:30 PM), Kris E. Roberts, Jacob R. 

Favolise (arrived at 7:10 PM), Bryan J. Lake, Catherine I. Workman (arrived at 7:12 PM),  

Bettina A. Chadbourne, Thomas F. Powers, and Mitchell H. Greenwald were present. Kate M. 
Bosley was absent. Councilor Roberts led the Pledge of Allegiance. 

 
MINUTES FROM PRECEDING MEETING 

 

A motion by Councilor Greenwald to adopt the October 2, 2025, meeting minutes as presented 
was duly seconded by Councilor Filiault.  

 
Councilor Filiault noted that at the previous two Council meetings, there were motions referring 

items back to Standing Committees made as amendments to the Committee reports. He pointed 

out that per the Council’s Rules of Order, those motions should not be amendments, but positive 
votes to refer the reports to the Committee. Mayor Kahn said it was duly noted for future 

reference. Councilor Remy said that the phrasing of the motion as an amendment to refer the 
Sale of City Property – 100 Church Street back to the Municipal Services, Facilities and 

Infrastructure Committee on October 2, 2025, was why he had voted in opposition.  

 
The motion to adopt the October 2, 2025 meeting minutes as presented carried unanimously with 

11 Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors Bosley, Tobin, Favolise, and Workman 
were absent.  

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS 
 

Mayor Kahn noted that Councilor Bosley was absent because she was being honored at the 
Extraordinary Women Awards, which recognizes individuals who inspire through leadership, 

compassion, innovation, and a deep dedication to others. Mayor Kahn also explained that the 

absent councilors were at Kate's event and would be arriving shortly.  
 

Mayor Kahn led the Council in honoring Councilors Bosley and Madison, who celebrated 
birthdays in October. 

 

Next, Mayor Kahn reminded the community about the Municipal General Election scheduled for 
November 4, 2025. The polls will be open from 8:00 AM to 7:00 PM. Please direct any 

questions regarding election and voting to the City Clerk’s Office.  
 

The Mayor shared a reminder of the Keene Pumpkin Festival on October 18 in Downtown 

Keene, with the children’s costume parade at 2:00 PM. He noted that there would be a fundraiser 
selling sausages for Keene’s Einbeck Partner City exchange, and he cited Councilor Madison’s 

tagline of, “the best wurst sausages.” 
 

The Mayor also announced two Council Goals Workshops. The first is a Progress Update 
Regarding Current Goals on Monday, November 17, 2025 from 6:00 PM to 8:00 PM in Cohen 



 10/16/2025  

 

560 

 

Hall. The second workshop is on Monday, December 1, 2025 at 6:00 PM in Cohen Hall 
regarding amendments and additions to Council Goals. The Municipal Services, Facilities and 

Infrastructure Committee meeting on Wednesday, November 25, 2025 has been moved to 
Tuesday, November 24 at 6:00 PM for the Thanksgiving Holiday. 

 

Mayor Kahn said there would be a ribbon cutting ceremony for an installation of public art in 
Ashuelot River Park on Sunday, October 26, 2025, at 2:00 PM. Councilor’s received a 

communication from the sponsor of that request to the City, Rick MacMillan. 
 

The Mayor also announced the Friends of the Keene Public Library’s Annual Fall Book Sale at 

Heberton Hall on October 24 to 26, 2025. 
 

PROCLAMATION - TRICK-OR-TREAT  
 

Mayor Kahn welcomed children Annaliese and Cora (with their parent, Senior Planner Mari 

Brunner), and Paige (with her parent, Planner Megan Fortson) to receive a Proclamation 
declaring Friday, October 31, 2025 as Trick-or-Treat Day in Keene. The Mayor asked Keene 

parents and children to cooperate in limiting Trick-or-Treat time to between 5:30 PM and 7:30 
PM. He also asked parents and other responsible adults to accompany their young children. He 

further requested that households indicate their willingness to welcome children by keeping their 

porch or exterior lights on, so that Trick-or-Treaters call on those that are lit. Finally, Mayor 
Kahn encouraged the cooperation of all the citizens of Keene to make this a happy and safe 

occasion for the children.  
 

PROCLAMATION - CELEBRATING 23 YEARS - EINBECK PARTNERSHIP 

 
Mayor Kahn welcomed Petra Bohnsack and Gerhard Specht. The Mayor said this moment was 

one year in the making with Keene’s Partner City Committee, Chaired by John Mitchell and 
staffed by Will Schoefmann and Nicole Howe. Mayor Kahn said they all worked for one year to 

prepare for this Partner City visit of 16 representatives from the Einbeck City Delegation, with 

two other delegations in Keene at the same time: 10 guests from Einbeck participating in MC2 
and a choral exchange of 29 singers performing on October 19 at the Redfern Arts Center at 

Keene State College. During summer 2025, there was also an exchange of a dance troupe that 
took 16 Keene High School students to Einbeck, led by Kristen Leach. Mayor Kahn noted that 

during this current visit, the 55 guests were hosted by local families, whom he thanked. He said it 

had really developed into a very fine exchange and partnership between the two cities. 
 

Mayor read into the record and presented Ms. Bohnsack and Mr. Specht with a copy of a 
Proclamation declaring the enduring value of the Partner City relations between Keene, NH, and 

Einbeck, Germany. The Mayor urged all Keene residents to recognize the importance of these 

international bonds and to celebrate the 23rd anniversary of this official partnership and the 
commitment to continue these valuable exchanges in the future. He thanked Ms. Bohnsack and 

Mr. Specht for representing Einbeck.  
 

Ms. Bohnsack thanked Mayor Kahn for the warm welcome on behalf of the citizens, City 
Council, administration, and City of Einbeck, Germany. Ms. Bohnsack noted the importance of 



 10/16/2025  

 

561 

 

having friendships even over the oceans to have peace in the world; if you know each other, then 
it is much easier to understand each other. She said this friendship is really something special. 

Ms. Bohnsack thanked Mayor Kahn for the invitation to stay in Keene and invited members of 
the City to Einbeck in 2026. Mr. Specht said that Ms. Bohnsack, Vice Mayor of Einbeck, was the 

official representative. Still, Mr. Specht thanked the Mayor and said this was special to him 

because he had history in Keene more than 10 years prior, when he worked at Schleicher and 
Schuell on Optical Avenue that was sold. So, he said this visit was coming back to a place he 

recognized, although some things had changed, like the Colony Mill. He called it a great honor 
and pleasure to be here again, meet new people, and find new friends. Mr. Specht looked forward 

to hosting familiar and new Keene visitors in Einbeck in 2026 for Eulenfest, celebrating the 

city’s beer brewing tradition dating to the 1800s. 
 

PROCLAMATION - MONADNOCK PEER SUPPORT 30TH ANNIVERSARY  
 

Mayor Kahn welcomed Monadnock Peer Support’s Director of Mission Impact Melissa 

Callender and Interim Executive Director, Sheriff Eli Rivera. The Mayor read into the record and 
presented Ms. Callender and Mr. Rivera with a Proclamation, congratulating Monadnock Peer 

Support on their 30th anniversary and urging all residents to recognize and celebrate their 
profound commitment and contributions to the mental health and well-being of the community. 

 

Ms. Callender thanked the Mayor and noted that even though Monadnock Peer Support had been 
in Keene for 30 years, some people were just learning about them. She encouraged everyone to 

look into their free services that are vital to the community. She welcomed anyone to 
Monadnock Peer Support’s Annual Meeting on Thursday, October 23, 2025 at Delegation Hall. 

Ms. Callender said Monadnock Peer Support was very thankful for this Proclamation.  

 
PUBLIC HEARING - PROHIBITING THE OPERATION OF KENO - MUNICIPAL 

GENERAL BALLOT QUESTION 
 

Mayor Kahn opened the Public Hearing at 7:27 PM and the City Clerk read the notice of hearing. 

 
The Mayor requested an overview from the City Attorney, Amanda Palmeira. The City Attorney 

explained that this topic was first raised to the City Council via communication from Councilor 
Jacob Favolise on June 19, 2025. The matter was referred to the Finance, Organization and 

Personnel (FOP) Committee. The issue raised to the City Council via that communication was 

whether to add a question to the Municipal General Election ballot about prohibiting Keno in the 
City. On August 28, 2025, Councilor Favolise’s letter to the Council was discussed by FOP, 

which also heard from City Clerk Terri Hood, who provided some history on the question of 
Keno in the City. On September 4, 2025, the City Council voted to carry out the intent of the 

FOP Committee and to place the Keno question on the ballot, as well as to schedule this Public 

Hearing. This Public Hearing was a requirement of the New Hampshire statute. The requirement 
for this hearing came from RSA 287-D:32. The question that would be on the ballot was: “Shall 

we prohibit the operation of Keno games within the City?” The City Attorney said this hearing 
was not intended for deliberations by the City Council on that question; the question was already 

on the ballot. This hearing was required by the statute in anticipation of voters deciding the 
question through their ballots. The hearing offers the forum to provide education and notice of 



 10/16/2025  

 

562 

 

the question on the ballot. The City Attorney noted that after this hearing, there would not be a 
referral to Committee or further action by the City Council. The next and final step would be the 

ballot box with the voters.  
 

Mayor Kahn recalled that this question had been posed to the voters of Keene twice before. He 

said the reason Keno was not effective in Keene yet was because both those times it was 
defeated by public ballot. This time, he said there was a change in statute so that it would be 

legal in the City unless the City votes to prohibit the operation of Keno. 
 

Mayor Kahn welcomed Executive Director of the New Hampshire Lottery Commission, Charlie 

McIntyre, for a presentation. Mr. McIntyre said the Lottery Commission’s job is threefold: (1) 
Raise money for education, of which Keene gets about $3.5 million per year of Adequacy Grants 

from the New Hampshire Lottery revenues for the Education Trust Fund. In 2024, New 
Hampshire Lottery generated $207 million for the citizens of New Hampshire, up from $62 

million when Mr. McIntyre began, which does not reflect in his salary. (2) Provide something 

fun to do. Mr. McIntyre said he spoke as a person who actually walks into casinos—not the ones 
he regulates, but ones in other states and those in virtually every other country on the planet. (3) 

Support local businesses. Mr. McIntyre cited 1,500 New Hampshire Lottery retailers across the 
state, all of whom derive some or significant amounts of money from sale of what the Lottery 

provides.  

 
Mr. McIntyre explained Keno 603 as a rapid-draw numbers game, where out of 80 numbers, you 

pick up to 12; he said most people pick three or four because it is most likely to win. Most of the 
prizes are below $500, so they are not taxed by the IRS. Twenty winning numbers are drawn 

every five minutes, from 11:05 AM to 1:00 AM. Purchases are made from the bar, so Mr. 

McIntyre hoped bartenders would benefit from tips. He said this is the only Lottery game 
specific to New Hampshire. To play Keno, customers use a big, orange self-service terminal, 

which means the bartender only has to pay off winning tickets and hopefully receive tips. At this 
time, Mr. McIntyre reported that Keno 603 was effective in 95 New Hampshire communities 

(65% of the state). He cited large northern parts of the state without any retailers and larger 

communities like Keene, Portsmouth, and Concord. Mr. McIntyre said Keno had expanded 
somewhat, so play slips could now be sold in community stores without the monitors in towns 

that have approved it. He added that in 2023, the state removed the $550 Keno licensing fee.  
 

Next, Mr. McIntyre described the Keno commissions by fiscal year, with retailers earning over 

$60 million. He said more importantly, a survey through the University of New Hampshire 
showed that more than 75% of Keno retailers reported business increasing dramatically when 

they added it as a part of their sales. Mr. McIntyre also discussed the benefits of Keno for 
retailers, such as increased foot traffic and people staying longer in businesses. As former law 

enforcement, he said the concerns about criminal behavior related to Keno had not borne out 

over the previous few years. Mr. McIntyre also presented benefits for municipalities, such as 
supporting businesses in the community. He stated that many taverns and bars across Keene’s 

borders would not want the City to adopt this because it would detract from their foot traffic. Mr. 
McIntyre concluded that the biggest Keno retailer at this time was on the southern border of 

Concord and people would travel to that location, stating retail behavior does not know 
geography.  



 10/16/2025  

 

563 

 

 
Councilor Jones asked about the wording that would be on the ballot, questioning why it asked 

the voters whether to “prohibit” Keno, meaning they must vote “No” if they are in favor of 
having it in Keene. Mr. McIntyre said that that Bill was not something the New Hampshire 

Lottery Commission submitted, but the legislature made that decision. He thought the question 

was meant to make it affirmative. He recalled visiting Keene twice before (once he sent a 
representative) when the voters considered this question. Councilor Jones said he thought it 

sounded confusing for the voters.  
 

Mayor Kahn said the question on the ballot would be, “Shall we prohibit the operation of 

Keno...” If voters want to prohibit Keno operation in Keene, they vote “Yes,” and if they wish to 
allow Keno, they vote, “No.” Councilor Jones said that was his point.  

 
Councilor Favolise wanted to clarify his understanding of how the State of New Hampshire 

allows a community to regulate Keno that might be different than other forms of gambling, such 

as a casino. As he understood it, the state law here was that grocery stores, convenience stores, 
bars, taverns, and anywhere with a specific kind of liquor license could offer Keno through their 

hours of operation, even if those hours of operation are 24/7. Mr. McIntyre replied in the 
affirmative. Councilor Favolise asked if there were any steps the City could take to regulate 

those hours of operation for Keno specifically, or would that involve zoning changes for the 

underlying type of establishment. Mr. McIntyre said yes, it would involve zoning changes for the 
underlying type of establishment. Councilor Favolise thought that it was an important difference 

to note between Keno and brick and mortar casinos, another form of gambling that he said cities 
maybe have a little bit more regulatory control over. Mr. McIntyre replied that when the state 

first passed Keno, it followed the model that was passed before the Lottery was established in 

1964, when cities and towns could vote to prohibit it. Mr. Mr. McIntyre said approximately 20 of 
200 towns voted against the model in 1965.  

 
Mayor Kahn asked if any establishment with a Liquor License would be eligible for Keno. Mr. 

McIntyre said there is a distinction in that it has to be an active pouring Liquor License, and he 

thought there were approximately 50 in Keene. He said it would not be a convenience store 
selling a six pack of beer, for example. In New Hampshire’s history, approximately 25% of a 

jurisdiction’s bars and taverns typically took advantage of Keno; he said those establishments 
typically pour more beer and chardonnay. Mr. McIntyre noted convenience stores could sell the 

Keno play slips just like a Powerball ticket but there would not be playing terminals/monitors 

(i.e., take and walk away; no lingering).  
 

Councilor Lake asked, if the City voted not to restrict Keno (i.e., allow it), could the Council 
pass zoning regulations to restrict where Keno could be allowed in the City or would it be up to 

the Lottery Commission. Mr. McIntyre was not aware of a municipality that had zoned for Keno 

and said that it would be an interpretation of the state law. He would need to confer on the 
question and recalled when he asked the Attorney General about municipalities’ 

interpretations/passage of zoning on travel gambling. To Councilor Lake’s point, Mr. McIntyre 
was unsure of the answer, noting there are no real zoning issues related to Keno because the 

cables and monitors are inside the buildings, which are not modified at all. Mayor Kahn asked 
whether, to Mr. McIntyre’s knowledge, anyone had ever denied its operation in any manner.  Mr. 



 10/16/2025  

 

564 

 

McIntyre said no, if the City wanted to keep Keno downtown or in commercial areas, that it 
certainly seemed reasonable, but a worry would be competing businesses having a benefit. He 

spoke from experience with the state’s passage of sport’s betting and the rule that there cannot be 
another sports betting location within 350 feet across state lines. In Portsmouth there were two 

sports bars, one within the zone and one just outside, so every patron started going to the bar 

with the betting; Mr. McIntyre said he never got more phone calls because of how much business 
the other sports bar lost, so they had to readjust that zone (half in New Hampshire and half in 

Maine on the Piscataqua River). Therefore, Mr. McIntyre thought zoning for Keno would be 
difficult but could certainly be considered. Councilor Lake said he would be interested in hearing 

from the City Attorney or Lottery Commission if they found out more about the City’s ability to 

pass additional zoning regulations for Keno. Councilor Lake worried about the City being open 
to Keno and it going into any spot, noting the City just went through a lot of regulation for 

charitable gaming facilities. He said a fresh topic on the Council’s mind was being able to 
contemplate where these things should and should not be in the City. The City Attorney said she 

would look into it because it would be something new to Keene, and she was very interested in 

the Attorney General’s opinion. Mr. McIntyre said he also had a compliance officer, an 
exceptionally talented litigator lawyer, who he would ask to look into it.  

 
Councilor Roberts referred to the PowerPoint that listed Keno 603 commissions by fiscal year; a 

lot of numbers that could be confusing. It said over $59 million in Keno sales, $4.7 million in 

commissions for retailers, and $8,251 average in annual commissions per Keno retailer. 
Councilor Roberts said that would come out to approximately $22.00 a day, leaving a remainder 

of $54.3 million. He asked how much of that $54.3 million goes back to players and what portion 
goes back to the Education Trust Fund. Mr. McIntyre thought Councilor Roberts was 

fundamentally asking about how much goes back to education, which is approximately $0.19 on 

the dollar. He said Keno was passed as a full funding mechanism for kindergarten, with about 
$10 million per year going back into the state Education Trust Fund. Mr. McIntyre did not 

believe the funds were restricted to kindergarten anymore, with all funds going back into the 
Education Trust Fund as a part of the education grants the state offers, which he has nothing to 

do with.  

 
Mayor Kahn asked for the total dollar amount the City of Keene receives from the Education 

Trust Fund. Mr. McIntyre said it is a lot of revenue. In 2024, of the $207 million New Hampshire 
Lottery revenue, he said based on Keene’s approximately 23,000 population out of New 

Hampshire’s 1.3 million, he estimated the City’s Education Trust Fund portion at $3.5 million. It 

varies by city and town. For instance, Wolfeboro receives nothing and other towns get more than 
Keene.  

 
Councilor Roberts said that it equated to approximately $8 per person for the State of New 

Hampshire going into the Education Trust Fund from the Lottery. Mr. McIntyre agreed but said 

there are far fewer than 1.3 million students. He added that $59 million is total sales, noting the 
“churn” in the gambling process (i.e., maybe you win maybe you lose). Councilor Roberts 

wanted it to be clear that the numbers appeared confusing. 
 

Councilor Williams asked if the standalone Keno machines accept credit cards. Mr. McIntyre 
said no, as a practical matter, there is no login. As a matter of conscience, he said the state does 



 10/16/2025  

 

565 

 

not accept credit cards on any lottery platform or its DraftKings platform. He does not want 
people to play with money they do not have.  

 
Mayor Kahn opened the floor to the public.  

 

Dorrie Masten of Swanzey, owner of the Pour House downtown, knew this was going on the 
ballot regardless but wanted Councilors to hear a bar owner’s side for when their constituents 

call and ask them questions. Ms. Masten said she was relatively sure most people know what she 
had been through with having a casino downtown. She felt she was pretty smacked around. She 

said Keno would be an opportunity for everyone downtown to, “get a small piece of the pie.” 

Ms. Masten referred to the newly approved casino location in the City, stating that she was 
happy for the owners. She asked if the City would now get a piece of that casino’s earnings. 

Mayor Kahn stated that the City would be eligible to apply for a limited license. Ms. Masten said 
that it does not mean the City will, but it is able to do it. She said the City could potentially get 

some portion of gambling revenues. So, Ms. Masten, thought the small business owners should 

also be allowed a portion. She referred to Mama McDonough’s Irish Pub located in Swanzey, 
where on the weekends for brunch, a large portion of the community goes to have fun with 

friends and play games like Keno. Ms. Masten said she does not play but picks up her 
Megabucks ticket while there and that for a lot of Keene residents, the games are a huge draw; 

she sees her own customers there for the games. She said even if Keno was allowed in Keene, 

she did not foresee every bar in the City getting a machine. She anticipated Keno operating at the 
local pubs, not restaurants like The Stage. She said customers could also buy tickets at places 

like Cumberland Farms. Ms. Masten asked the Council to take all of that into consideration with 
“the big dig” facing downtown businessowners. She said this would be another chance for them 

to, “get a small piece of the pie.” Ms. Masten called it a step that all these other communities 

were taking, and she thought it was time that Keene stopped sending its community out of town.  
 

Peter Hansel of 61 Bradford Road asked for clarification about whether this was already on the 
ballot and the Council’s responsibility at this point. Mayor Kahn replied that Keno would be 

legal in Keene if this did not go on the ballot, so in order to give the people of Keene a voice in 

that decision, the Council voted to place it on the ballot. The Mayor said Mr. Hansel’s comments 
at this point would be best directed to the public at large. Mr. Hansel wanted to make a few 

remarks about the quality of the City, recalling the visitors from Keene’s Partner City, Einbeck, 
Germany; he was a host. He had the privilege of visiting Einbeck in 2012, where a plaza was 

dedicated with Keene’s name on it similar to Central Square. Mr. Hansel called it a great 

relationship. He also mentioned during the prior month: the Keene Pride Festival, International 
Festival, and Monadnock International Film Festival. He cited the recent Radically Rural about 

how to make rural communities better and more competitive with large urban environments. 
Annually over two to three days, the event draws participants from across the country (eight 

from Hawaii in 2025) to Keene to learn how to make their communities more successful on 

topics like journalism, arts, and the environment. In all the parts of Radically Rural Mr. Hansel 
attended, he had not heard anyone recommend gambling to make a community more 

competitive. He said he had been following the gambling issue in New Hampshire for 
approximately 20 years, when this type of gambling began, and a lot had changed in that time. 

Now, he noted the existence of online gambling from a computer, betting on every pitch thrown 
at in a baseball game, calling it ubiquitous. Mr. Hansel wanted to say that he did not think it 



 10/16/2025  

 

566 

 

would be in Keene’s culture to allow more gambling than what is already available to the 
community. He hoped the community would decide to say “No” to Keno. 

 
Bridget Hansel of Bradford Road said through the years, the State of New Hampshire had tried 

to fund the state’s budget first with liquor sales, then tobacco. As those sources were drying up, 

she said the state was looking for another unsustainable source in gambling. Ms. Hansel was 
concerned about the short-term fix for the state budget that would offer no clear long-term 

solutions. She was also concerned about the impacts of gambling and specifically Keno on the 
social fabric of the community. All types of gambling can be addictive, which Ms. Hansel did 

not hear Mr. McIntyre from the Liquor Commission address. However, Ms. Hansel said the 

specific nature of Keno gambling makes it especially addictive due to the instant gratification 
and fast pace of the game. She echoed that she was hosting visitors from Einbeck, Germany, 

which made her realize she was showing them a unique community full of arts, a diverse 
downtown, and a world class Public Library. As such, Ms. Hansel did not see gambling in 

Keene’s future. 

 
Jim Putnam of 168 Court Street, which is about 2.5 blocks from City Hall, also has an office in-

between in the Central Business District that he walks to most days. He spends a lot of time 
downtown, where he enjoys walking and patronizing the businesses with his wife. He completely 

agreed with Mr. and Ms. Hansel. Mr. Putnam said we are fortunate this is a community that 

understands the downside of gambling, especially this kind of gambling. He said Keno is a form 
of gambling and it can lead to unhealthy, addictive behavior. Mr. Putnam said this community 

does not need Keno and Keene citizens had rejected Keno twice already in the past. He was 
confident, or certainly hoped, the voters would again. 

 

Warren Steinberg of Concord Hill Drive said he researched Keene’s Partner City Einbeck, 
Germany, which also has legal gambling, including something like Keno. He said Keno is not 

something only in large cities, but smaller cities were incorporating this as well. Mr. Steinberg 
noted someone mentioned a lot of online options available right now and said “we” get nothing 

from that. He said somebody can sit at home, gamble all they want, and feed their gambling 

addiction; if that is what people were worried about. He said people would find a way, stating 
there was already a legal casino in the City. Mr. Steinberg said Keno would be very different 

because it is not a casino, not online, and would not put money through some corporation in a 
random city. He said this would be for the local business owners of bars and taverns, as well as 

convenience stores, giving them an ability to generate additional income. Mr. Steinberg cited a 

lot of stores and businesses all along Main Street closing down and said they all said the same 
thing: they were just not making enough income. He understood that this might not be one of the 

ways for the state to make more money but said it would help the struggling small business 
owners. Mr. Steinberg also cited the upcoming “big dig” downtown that he said would be two 

years of business owners trying their hardest to stay alive and keep the downtown area going. He 

believed Keno would help those small business owners, even though it is a small percentage.  
 

Ms. Masten wanted to ensure everyone noticed something from the public speakers’ comments. 
She stated that casinos should not just be allowed when they benefit someone’s family or family 

member, they should be allowed regardless of who you are, what your last name is, and what 



 10/16/2025  

 

567 

 

property you own and or how long you have lived in Keene. Ms. Masten said anyone who is 
eligible for a casino, casino license, or gambling—everyone—should be included.  

 
Hearing no further comments, Mayor Kahn closed the Public Hearing at 8:03 PM. There would 

not be an extension of the hearing for written comment. The question would be on the upcoming 

November 4, 2025 Municipal General ballot. 
 

    A true record, attest:   

        City Clerk 

 
PUBLIC HEARING - ALLOWING THE OPERATION OF SOCIAL DISTRICTS - 

MUNICIPAL GENERAL BALLOT QUESTION 
 

Mayor Kahn opened the Public Hearing at 8:04 PM and the City Clerk read the notice of hearing.  

 
The Mayor requested an overview from the City Attorney, Amanda Palmeira. The City Attorney 

explained that this topic was first raised to City Council via communication from Councilor 
Remy on June 19, 2025, when it was referred to the Finance, Organization and Personnel (FOP) 

Committee. The issue raised to the City Council via that communication was whether to add the 

question to the Municipal General Election ballot about authorizing social districts in Keene as 
described in the newly created statute RSA 178:34. On September 25, 2025, the FOP Committee 

discussed Councilor Remy’s letter and heard from the City Attorney about the various logistics 
incumbent on the City within a social district, as described in the statute. The FOP Committee 

recommended to place the question of whether to. allow social districts within the City on the 

November 4, 2025 Municipal General Election ballot. The City Council voted on October 7, 
2025 to carry out the intent of the FOP Committee, placing the question on the ballot and 

scheduling this Public Hearing as a requirement of the statute. This hearing was not intended to 
be deliberations by the City Council on the ballot question because the question, as read by the 

City Clerk, was already on the ballot regardless of what was discussed during this Hearing. 

Instead, this hearing was a requirement by the statute in anticipation of the voters deciding the 
question through their ballots. After this, the City Attorney noted that there would be no referral 

to Committee or further action by the City Council. The next and final step would be the voters 
at the polls on November 4.  

 

Mayor Kahn said the City Clerk asked the New Hampshire Liquor Commission whether it would 
send a representative to address questions and comment at this evening’s hearing. The Liquor 

Commission indicated it was not a part of this legislation and did not wish to be present.  
 

Councilor Remy said that putting this on the ballot was basically to give the voters a chance to 

answer. He said it was a 14 to 1 vote, and he promised not all 14 of those Councilors who voted 
in favor of putting the question on the ballot were in favor of the idea of social districts in Keene; 

he said they thought the voters deserved the opportunity to weigh in on whether it should be 
allowed. Councilor Remy further explained that if the voters unanimously voted “Yes” on the 

ballot, social districts would not be immediately legal in Keene. It would still be up to the City 
Council to establish an ordinance that would control it, with boundaries, hours, etc. He said the 



 10/16/2025  

 

568 

 

statute laid out what the City is allowed to rule on when and where; it would affect the license 
holders in that area in those license holders would have an opportunity to opt in and out; 

participation is not mandatory. Councilor Remy said there is a lot of flexibility in the statute and 
that the whole point was to put it on the ballot and if it passed, there would be significant 

deliberation by the City Council. If the City voted “No” unanimously on the ballot, it would not 

move forward. He said it has to go through a ballot process because Keene is a City without a 
town meeting process. Councilor Remy said that putting the question on the ballot this year 

provided flexibility to make a decision and let the public weigh in without having to wait another 
two years.  

 

Councilor Favolise asked the City Attorney about the wording of this ballot question, noting that 
it was different than the Keno ballot question. Knowing both questions would be on the ballot at 

the same time, he wanted to have the opportunity to make a really clear distinction for the public. 
Councilor Favolise asked the City Attorney to confirm that for social districts, a “Yes” vote 

would actually mean “yes.” The City Attorney said that was correct, it would be a “Yes” vote on 

the question of, “Shall we allow the operation of social districts within the City of Keene?”   
 

Councilor Greenwald said he thought social districts were the worst idea he heard in 30 plus 
years on City Council. He stated that he had some rhetorical questions: Does the state have any 

regulations on how social district should be employed? In answer he said no he does not believe 

they do. Does the City have any regulations on how they should be employed? Again, he said the 
answer is “no”. Do any cities in New Hampshire already have social districts? He said he was 

not aware of any. Councilor Greenwald said there are some things for which the City likes to be 
the pioneer, but this is not one of them. He added that he thought the ballot question was very 

confusing but appreciated that it was asked straightforward (yes is yes, no is no) compared to the 

Keno question, which he could see was manipulated to kind of fool the people. However, he said 
the general public really did not know all these questions he was asking and would be apt to just 

vote “Yes.” He agreed as Councilor Remy pointed out that if passed, there would be rules and 
regulations that would hopefully stick but having been around a little while and seeing how 

things go, Councilor Greenwald said this Council could be concerned but a future Council less 

so. He worried it could result in regulations that would lead to real damage. Councilor 
Greenwald said the City had gone a long way to control excessive alcohol use amongst the 

student population and if this was enacted, he thought it would target that population. He was 
very concerned, which was why he did not want to hear from the general public, who Councilor 

Greenwald did not think would be informed enough to really say “No” when they want “No.” In 

speaking with his fellow Councilors one-on-one, he knew they were not necessarily all vastly in 
favor of the concept but wanted to put it out to the public. Councilor Greenwald hoped others 

would speak and the public would listen. He stated that this would be a bad idea.  
 

Councilor Jones said for clarity: if this were to pass on the ballot, it still would not happen unless 

the Council created ordinances. The Mayor said that was correct. Councilor Jones wanted that to 
be clear for the public. The Mayor added that if it did not pass on the ballot, there was nothing to 

prohibit another Councilor/Council from raising this again in two years and placing it on the 
ballot again because it is still state law to be able to create these districts once the question is 

approved. The Mayor said perhaps in two years other communities would have adopted these 
rules as some precedent and the City Council might have a different opinion. 



 10/16/2025  

 

569 

 

 
Councilor Haas said what this does, in addition to the prior question, is tell the citizenry it is 

really important to come out and vote. He said let’s have a great turnout at this otherwise quiet 
municipal election.  

 

Councilor Williams said Keene has a lot of festivals that are a lot of fun and family friendly. He 
did not think the addition of more drunk people would benefit them. That was why Councilor 

Williams opposed this. 
 

City Clerk Terri Hood mentioned that she and the City Attorney talked about the two questions 

on the ballot, in terms of the phrasing and intent of each question, and the confusion that might 
cause. The City Attorney contacted the solicitor in Concord, where both questions would also be 

on the ballot at the same time. The Clerk’s office reached out to the State of New Hampshire and 
the Secretary of State told the Clerk that as long as Keene’s Charter does not oppose the City 

putting literature out for voters, that it is allowed; previously the City Clerk was under the 

impression it was not. She said there was some information staff would be sharing with voters on 
the website and at the polls on Election Day, explaining what a yes vote means or what a no vote 

means on both questions.  
 

Mayor Kahn opened the floor to public comments.  

 
Robin Kost of 51 Railroad Street said as a resident downtown, she sees what happens downtown 

every day. She was concerned about the students and how the parents would feel sending their 
children to a town that would allow open drinking on the streets. She wanted everyone to 

consider the families who live in the area, who walk, who shop, who walk their dogs, who dine 

at restaurants, who bring their grandchildren and their children into town. Ms. Kost could 
understand drinking allowed associated with festivals and thought the drinking areas for Taste of 

Keene had been wonderful. She said she is a person who likes to put policy before a decision, 
and thought this question really needed a policy before a vote. Obviously, she said there would 

be a vote, but she wanted every Council member to think hard about what policies and 

ordinances they would put in place if this was voted for. She provided some examples: What 
were the hours be? Would it be within distance of a school or child walking home from school? 

Would it be during hours when parents are picking up their kids? Would it be late at night? Ms. 
Kost said there are a lot of policy decisions that would be required and cited the amount of 

associated effort needed, including educating the public. Ms. Kost was personally against this 

and said she thought policies and decisions should be made before an ordinance like this is put 
on the town.  

 
Dorrie Masten of Swanzey and owner of the Pour House downtown wanted to speak from 

bartenders’ conversations when this first went public. She cited the hypothetical of a member of 

the public coming into the Pour House and only having one drink after several drinks at another 
bar, then getting in their car and putting nips in a cup and walking down main street under a 

social districts ordinance, and then choosing to drive afterward and killing someone; Ms. Masten 
said the liability and punishment would be on the last bar that served that person, not the bar that 

served them the most. She called that very serious and said it puts everyone on Main Street in a 
tough spot. Ms. Masten believed the Council was also considering a nearby pocket park and said 



 10/16/2025  

 

570 

 

the City did not have funds for Police or City staff to maintain the park as it is; she wondered 
what it would be like with broken liquor bottles and cups all over town. She said there were a lot 

of things to think about besides being a party town, people walking around with cups, and kids 
drinking. She said she did not know everything about the statute but that there were serious 

liability questions accompanying those issues, even for the City. Ms. Masten said it would 

actually be legal to sit in Central Square Park and get drunk whereas right now it would be 
disorderly conduct. She thought the same problems at the pocket park would start happening on 

Central Square. Ms. Masten encouraged the Council and community to consider all the different 
angles of this issue, the liabilities that small businesses could incur, and that somebody could 

really get hurt. Mayor Kahn said this discussion helped the Council recognize that the private 

business owners are responsible people who do a good job.  
 

Councilor Remy clarified that this statute would not allow for “bring your own beer/booze” 
(BYOB) at all. Every drink that must be purchased from a licensee and it would be illegal to 

carry a cup from one licensee into another licensee’s establishment. He said it would also be very 

illegal, though not impossible, to fill a cup with unauthorized beverages; he said he would be no 
different than refilling a coffee cup from Cumberland Farms with alcohol and walking around 

with it, stating it would be harder to catch either way. Councilor Remy reiterated that BYOB 
would not be permitted. He continued explaining that the statute has really specific rules on 

certain things, like what the cups (non-glass, 16-oz maximum) must display in 12-point font: 

identify the licensee the drink was sold by, display the logo of the social district, “drink 
responsibly,” and “must be 21.” Patrons could only carry the cups back into the establishment 

they purchased the drink from originally. Councilor Remy said it would be a little different from 
what Ms. Masten described but he understood her concern.  

 

Warren Steinberg of 36 Concord Hill Drive asked, if the constituents voted “No” at the polls this 
year, could the City Council still take the time to develop policies and procedures, so the City 

would be prepared two years from now if the question were to be placed on the ballot again and 
not in the same situation without any regulations ready. He said they heard about how many 

policies and regulations would have to be developed if this passed at the polls and said in two 

years the City would be at the mercy of whomever is on staff at the time without anything 
prepared in advance. The City Attorney replied that if residents were to vote “No” at the polls, 

the City Council would not have the legal authority to start developing rules for social districts. 
Mayor Kahn said that in two years, the question could come back, and perhaps other 

communities would have enacted the districts as examples. 

 
Hearing no further comments, Mayor Kahn closed the Public Hearing at 8:25 PM. There would 

not be an extended period for written comment, and the question would appear on the November 
4, 2025 Municipal Ballot. 

 

    A true record, attest:  

        City Clerk 
 

CONFIRMATIONS- ENERGY & CLIMATE COMMITTEE, HUMAN RIGHTS 
COMMITTEE 



 10/16/2025  

 

571 

 

 
Mayor Kahn nominated Matthew Boulton to serve as an alternate member of the Energy and 

Climate Committee, with a term to expire December 31, 2027. The Mayor also nominated 
Gregory Kleiner to serve as an alternate member of the Human Rights Committee, with a term to 

expire December 31, 2026. A motion by Councilor Greenwald to confirm the nominations was 

duly seconded by Councilor Powers. The motion carried unanimously on a roll call vote with 14 
Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilor Bosley was absent.  

 
COMMUNICATION - ANDREW ORAM - RESIGNATION - CONGREGATE LIVING AND 

SOCIAL SERVICES LICENSING BOARD 

 
The Mayor pulled forward on the agenda a communication was received from Andrew Oram, 

resigning from the Congregate Living and Social Services Licensing Board after serving as Chair 
for almost four years. A motion by Councilor Greenwald to accept the resignation with gratitude 

for service was duly seconded by Councilor Filiault. The motion carried unanimously with 14 

Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilor Bosley was absent.  
 

NOMINATIONS - CONGREGATE LIVING AND SOCIAL SERVICES LICENSING BOARD 
 

Mayor Kahn nominated Robert Hamm to serve as a regular member of the Congregate Living 

and Social Services Licensing Board, with a term to expire December 31, 2027. The Mayor 
tabled the nomination until the next regular meeting. 

 
COMMUNICATIONS - KEN KOST - IN OPPOSITION TO THE SALE OF 100 CHURCH 

STREET AND PROPOSING A COMMUNITY STEWARDSHIP PLAN; AND COUNCILOR 

WILLIAMS - IN OPPOSITION TO THE SALE OF 100 CHURCH STREET AND 
PROPOSING A REDESIGN OF AREA 

 
The first communication was received from Ken Kost, submitting a petition with 25 East Side 

residents’ signatures stating they are against the sale of 100 Church Street and would like to 

preserve that space as a pocket park and a valuable neighborhood asset. They further explained 
their Community Stewardship Plan. A second communication was received from Councilor 

Robert Williams, submitting a letter related to 100 Church Street suggesting a redesign of the 
space that would incorporate elements to encourage the public’s use of the space, improve 

visibility from the street and discourage poor behavior. Mayor Kahn filed the communications as 

informational.  
 

Councilor Madison left the meeting.  
 

PLD REPORT - KEENE SNO-RIDERS - REQUESTING PERMISSION TO RUN 

SNOWMOBILES IN THE RIGHT-OF-WAY ALONG KRIF ROAD FROM ASHUELOT 
RAIL TRAIL TO WINCHESTER STREET 

 
A Planning, Licenses and Development Committee report was read, unanimously recommending 

the Keene SnoRiders be granted permission to use the following locations on City property for a 
snowmobile trail: the right-of-way along the north side of Krif Road from Krif Court to 



 10/16/2025  

 

572 

 

Winchester Street; City property identified by tax map numbers: 115-023-000-000-000;  
109-027-000-000-000; 204-001-000- 000-000; the crossing of Winchester Street at Krif Road; 

and the crossing of Production Avenue approximately 200 +/- feet south of NH Route 9. As well 
as access to the Class VI Portion of the Old Gilsum Road starting approximately one mile from 

the Gilsum Town Line and going north, (“Premises”) for the following purpose: for a 

snowmobile trail, and under the following conditions: Said use shall commence on December 15, 
2025, and expire on March 30, 2026, and is subject to the following conditions: the signing of a 

revocable license and indemnification agreement; and the submittal of a certificate of liability 
insurance in the amount of $1,000,000, naming the City of Keene as additionally insured. In 

addition, the Keene SnoRiders, Inc. will be responsible (including all associated costs) for 

furnishing, installing and maintaining of all signage/marking; which shall be furnished and 
installed in accordance with the Snowmobile Trail Standards published by NH Department of 

Business and Economic Affairs and the Manual for Uniform Traffic Control Devices (MUTCD); 
all signage/markings installed shall be removed from the City right-of-way and City property 

when there is no longer any snow cover; no structures, including but not limited to buildings, 

shelters, lights, displays, walls, etc. shall be permitted with the City right-of-way or on City 
property; no parking of motor vehicles or trailers and no catering servicing activities of any kind 

shall be permitted within the City right-of-way or on City property; grooming shall not extend 
outside the rightof- way of Krif Road; snow windows shall be groomed to provide adequate sight 

distances in conformance with AASHTO Standards and a gentle sloping approach at all road and 

driveway intersections; no part of the City Street (paved surfaces) may be used by off- highway 
recreational vehicles (OHRV) or their operators for any purpose, other than direct crossing; and 

that Keene SnoRiders, Inc. shall be responsible for the repair of any damage (including costs) 
and the City rightof-way and property shall only be used when there is snow cover. All crossing 

of public right of ways shall be made and maintained as perpendicular with the right of way 

being crossed. A motion by Councilor Jones to carry out the intent of the Committee report was 
duly seconded by Councilor Filiault. The motion carried unanimously with 13 Councilors 

present and voting in favor. Councilors Bosley and Madison were absent.  
 

PLD REPORT - THE PERCH - REQUEST FOR PERMISSION TO SERVE ALCOHOL - 

SIDEWALK CAFÉ 
 

A Planning, Licenses and Development Committee report was read, unanimously recommending 
that The Perch be granted permission to serve alcoholic beverages in connection with their 

Sidewalk Café License, subject to the customary licensing requirements of the City Council, 

compliance with the requirements of Sections 46-1191 through 46-1196 of the City Code, and 
compliance with any requirements of the NH Liquor Commission. This license shall expire on 

March 1, 2026. A motion by Councilor Jones to carry out the intent of the committee report was 
duly seconded by Councilor Williams. The motion carried unanimously with 13 Councilors 

present and voting in favor. Councilors Bosley and Madison were absent.  

 
CITY MANAGER COMMENTS 

 
The City Manager, Elizabeth Ferland, announced that the Keene Public Library launched a new 

online resource: Peterson’s Test and Career Prep, which helps students prepare for upcoming 
standardized tests, like the ACT, SAT, AP, CLEP, etc. Of particular interest for City staff, 



 10/16/2025  

 

573 

 

Peterson’s includes practice tests for the Police Officer Exam, Public Safety Dispatcher/911 
Operator Exam, Police Sergeant, Lieutenant and Captain Promotion, Bookkeeping Practice Sets, 

Journeyman Plumber and Electrician Exam, Firefighter Exam, Commercial Driver’s License 
Exam, Paramedic Exam, EMT Exam, Certified Information Systems Security Professional, 

Comp TIA A+ and Cybersecurity Awareness Training Course. Peterson’s Test and Career Prep 

can be accessed from the Library’s Online Tools & Learning Resources.  
 

The City Manager also shared an update on the Verizon Tower that would be installed soon on 
City property. City staff had been working with various stakeholders to finalize a lease 

agreement for construction of a Verizon cell tower on City-owned property along Arch Street. 

The City Council authorized the negotiation and execution of this agreement in April 2024. The 
current plan was to locate the tower on a wooded parcel owned by the City’s Water Fund at 84 

Arch Street. As part of the agreement, the City would install municipal emergency response 
equipment on the tower. The use of this space was being considered as partial compensation 

within the overall lease rate, which was not yet finalized. Placement of City equipment on the 

tower would enhance communications and address existing dead zones in adjacent areas, 
including coverage improvements at Keene High School and close proximity to Monadnock 

Market Place. The City Manager hoped to have the lease finalized in the next couple of months. 
Councilor Jones asked if that tower would be a 35-foot 5G tower. The City Manager said no, this 

would be a regular cell tower, not a 5G tower, but it could have 5G on it in the future. She said it 

would be 135 feet tall.  
 

Councilor Remy asked if the petitioner from The Perch was effective to serve alcohol at their 
sidewalk café immediately based on the previous agenda item. The City Clerk said the petitioner 

would need to sign a new license agreement that incorporates the alcohol service, which the City 

Clerk’s office could accommodate as soon as the next day.  
 

Councilor Favolise recalled that the City applied for the Staffing for Adequate Fire and 
Emergency Response Grants (SAFER) Grant, and he asked for an update about the availability 

of that grant. The City Manager said the City should have known by now but because of the 

government shutdown, the City had not been notified. Some other communities were notified 
within a few days of the shutdown. The City Manager could not say for sure whether that meant 

the City was not awarded the grant.  
 

REPORTS - RESIGNATIONS - RANDYN MARKELON - PLANNING BOARD; EMMA 

SIEMER - HUMAN RIGHTS COMMITTEE; AND KATHLEEN MALLOY - ZONING 
BOARD OF ADJUSTMENT 

 
Mayor Kahn reminded everyone that with the new calendar year approaching, Councilors should 

refer anyone interested in serving on City boards and committees to the Mayor or City Manager.  

 
The first memorandum was read from Planner Megan Fortson, recommending accepting Randyn 

Markelon’s resignation from the Planning Board with gratitude for her three years of service. A 
second memorandum was read from Parks and Recreation Director Carrah Fisk-Hennessey, 

recommending accepting Emma Siemer’s resignation from the Human Rights Committee with 
gratitude for her service. A third memorandum was read from Planner Evan Clements, 

https://keenenh.gov/keene-public-library/online-tools-learning-resources/


 10/16/2025  

 

574 

 

recommending accepting Kathleen Malloy’s resignation from the Zoning Board of Adjustment 
with gratitude. A motion by Councilor Greenwald to accept the resignations with gratitude for 

service was duly seconded by Councilor Tobin. The motion carried unanimously with 13 
Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors Bosley and Madison were absent. 

 

MORE TIME - PLD REPORT - MARK REBILLARD - USE OF CITY PROPERTY - SERIES 
OF SMALL-SCALE DOWNTOWN FESTIVALS DURING DOWNTOWN CONSTRUCTION 

PROJECT 
 

A Planning, Licenses and Development Committee report was read, unanimously recommending 

the Use of City Property – Series of Small-Scale Downtown Festivals During Downtown 
Construction Project to be put on more time to allow protocol meetings to occur. Mayor Kahn 

granted more time.  
 

IN APPRECIATION OF CHRISTOPHER L. SIMONDS UPON HIS RETIREMENT - 

RESOLUTION R-2025-33 
 

A memorandum was read from ACM/Human Resources Director Elizabeth Fox, recommending 
the adoption of R-2025-33 in Appreciation of Christopher L. Simonds Upon His Retirement (18 

years with the Keene Police Department). A motion by Councilor Powers to adopt Resolution R-

2025-33 was duly seconded by Councilor Greenwald. The motion carried unanimously with 13 
Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors Bosley and Madison were absent. 

 
IN APPRECIATION OF TODD R. FARNSWORTH UPON HIS RETIREMENT - 

RESOLUTION R-2025-34 

 
A memorandum was read from ACM/Human Resources Director Elizabeth Fox, recommending 

the adoption of R-2025-34 in Appreciation of Christopher L. Simonds Upon His Retirement (18 
years with the Public Works Department). A motion by Councilor Powers to adopt Resolution R-

2025-34 was duly seconded by Councilor Greenwald. The motion carried unanimously with 13 

Councilors present and voting in favor. Councilors Bosley and Madison were absent.  
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 

There being no further business, Mayor Kahn adjourned the meeting at 8:48 PM. The Mayor 

noted that following a five-minute break, the Council would meet with legal counsel for the 
purpose of receiving legal advice. This gathering does not constitute a public meeting under RSA 

91-A:2, I. 
 

    A true record, attest:    

        City Clerk 
 


